
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF GEORGIA 

 
Catherine Esteppe, individually and on 
behalf of others similarly situated, 

 
Plaintiff, 

vs. 

 

Ideal Image Development Corp. and 
Ideal Image of Georgia, LLC, doing 
business as “Ideal Image,” 
 
  Defendants. 

  
 
Civil Case No.:  
 
 

 
COLLECTIVE ACTION COMPLAINT AND JURY DEMAND 

 
1. This collective action is brought by Catherine Esteppe (“Plaintiff” or 

“Esteppe”), on behalf of herself and all others similarly situated, by and through 

her attorneys, Brown, LLC and the Orlando Firm, P.C., against Ideal Image 

Development Corp. and Ideal Image of Georgia, LLC, doing business as “Ideal 

Image,” (“Defendants”) to recover overtime compensation and other relief relating 

to violations of the Fair Labor Standards Act, 29 U.S.C. § 201 et seq. (“FLSA”). 

2. Defendants employ “sales consultants” who are responsible for selling 

Defendant’s laser-hair removal services, along with other medical-cosmetic 

services to customers during consultations.  
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3. Plaintiff and other sales consultants, lead sales consultants, traveling 

sales consultants, and similar positions routinely worked more than forty (40) 

hours in a workweek, but were not paid an overtime premium for their overtime 

hours. 

4. Plaintiff brings this action on behalf of herself and all similarly-

situated individuals for violations of the FLSA.  The FLSA overtime claim is 

asserted as an opt-in collective action under the FLSA.  See 29 U.S.C. § 216(b). 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

5. This Court has original jurisdiction to hear this Complaint and to 

adjudicate the claim stated herein under 28 U.S.C. § 1331, this action being 

brought under the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 201 et seq.  

6. Venue is proper in the United States District Court for the Northern 

District of Georgia pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391 because a substational portion of 

the events that give rise to Plaintiff’s claim occurred in this district.   

PARTIES 

Plaintiff 

7. Plaintiff Catherine Esteppe is an adult resident of Fayette County, 

Georgia.   

8. Plaintiff was employed by Defendants as a lead sales consultant from 

December 2017 to October 2018.  
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9. Plaintiff worked at Defendants’ treatment center located at 900 

Ashewood Parkway, Suite 120, Atlanta, Georgia 30338. 

10. Plaintiff brings this action on behalf of herself and all other similarly 

situated individuals pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b).  Plaintiff and the similarly 

situated individuals were, or are, employed by Defendants as  sales consultants, 

lead sales consultants, traveling sales consultants, and similar job titles, and held 

non-supervisory sales positions, within three years of the date this Complaint was 

filed.  See 29 U.S.C. § 255(a). 

11. At all relevevant times, Defendants are, and have been, “employers” 

of Plaintiff and the similarly situated individuals within the meaning of the FLSA, 

29 U.S.C. § 203(d).  

Defendants 

12. Defendant Ideal Image Development Corp. is a Florida corporation 

with its principal place of business located at 1 North Dale Mabry Highway, Suite 

1200, Tampa, Florida 33609. 

13. Ideal Image Development Corp. has designated the following agent 

for service of process in Illinois: Strothman, Nicole Desq., 4830 West Kennedy 

Boulevard, Suite 440,  Tampa, Florida 33609. 

14. Defendant Ideal Image of Georgia, LLC is an Delaware limited 

liability company with its principal place of business located at 1 North Dale 
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Mabry Highway, Suite 1200, Tampa, Florida 33609. 

15. Ideal Image of Georgia, LLC has designated the following agent for 

service of process in Illinois: Corporate Creations Network, 2985 Gordy Parkway, 

1st Floor, Marietta, Georgia 30066. 

16. Defendants do business as Ideal Image, a nationwide company 

headquartered in Tampa, Florida that engages in the development, management, 

and operation of treatment centers utilizing laser therapy for the cosmetic services 

industry. See www.idealimage.com.   

17. Defendants operate in interstate commerce by, employing persons 

who work with and handle materials, such as medical equipment, that has moved 

in interstate commerce.  

18. Upon information and belief, Defendants’ gross annual sales made or 

business done has been in excess of $500,000 at all relevant times.   

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

19.  As sales consultants, Plaintiff and the similarly situated individuals 

were responsible for selling Defendant’s laser-hair removal services, along with 

other medical-cosmetic services to customers during consultations. 

20. Defendants suffered and permitted Plaintiff and the similarly situated 

individuals to work more than forty (40) hours per week without overtime pay.  
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21. Defendants were aware, or should have been aware, that Plaintiff and 

the similarly situated individuals were performing non-exempt work that required 

payment of overtime compensation. 

22. Defendants failed to pay Plaintiff an overtime premium for her hours 

worked in excess of forty (40) in a workweek.  

COLLECTIVE ACTION ALLEGATIONS 

23. Plaintiff, on behalf of herself and all similarly situated individuals, 

restates and incorporates by reference the above paragraphs as if fully set forth 

herein.   

24. Plaintiff files this action on behalf of herself and all similarly situated 

individuals.  The proposed FLSA Collective is defined as follows:  

All persons who worked as lead sales consultants, sales consultants, 
traveling sales consultants, or similar job titles for Ideal Image at any 
time from three years prior to the filing of this Complaint through the 
date of judgment. 
 
25. Plaintiff has consented in writing to be a part of this action pursuant to 

29 U.S.C. § 216(b).  Plaintiff’s signed consent form is attached as Exhibit A. As 

this case proceeds, it is likely that other individuals will file consent forms and join 

as “opt-in” plaintiffs. 

26. During the applicable statutory period, Plaintiff and the FLSA 

Collective routinely worked in excess of forty (40) hours per workweek without 

receiving overtime compensation for their overtime hours worked.   
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27. Defendants willfully engaged in a pattern of violating the FLSA, as 

described in this Complaint in ways including, but not limited to, failing to pay the 

FLSA Collective members overtime compensation.  See 29 U.S.C. § 255.  

28. Defendants are liable under the FLSA for failing to properly 

compensate Plaintiff and the FLSA Collective.  Accordingly, notice should be sent 

to the FLSA Collective.  There are numerous members of the FLSA Collective 

who have suffered from the Defendants’ practice of denying overtime pay to  lead 

sales consultants, sales consultants, traveling sales consultants, and similar 

positions who would benefit from the issuance of court-authorized notice of this 

lawsuit and the opportunity to join.  Those similarly situated employees are known 

to Defendants, and are readily identifiable through their records.  

CAUSES OF ACTION 

COUNT I – VIOLATION OF THE FAIR LABOR STANDARDS ACT 

FAILURE TO PAY OVERTIME 

(on behalf of Plaintiff and the FLSA Collective) 
 

29. Plaintiff, on behalf of herself and all similarly situated individuals, 

restates and incorporates by reference the above paragraphs as if fully set forth 

herein.   
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30. The FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 207, requires employers to pay non-exempt 

employees one and one-half times the regular rate of pay for all hours worked over 

forty (40) hours per workweek.   

31. Defendants suffered and permitted Plaintiff and the FLSA Collective 

to routinely work more than forty (40) hours per week without overtime 

compensation.   

32. Defendants’ actions, policies, and practices described above violate 

the FLSA’s overtime requirement by regularly and repeatedly failing to 

compensate Plaintiff and the FLSA Collective the required overtime compensation.  

33. Defendants knew, or showed reckless disregard for the fact, that they 

failed to pay these individuals overtime compensation in violation of the FLSA.   

34. As the direct and proximate result of Defendants’ unlawful conduct, 

Plaintiff and the FLSA Collective have suffered and will continue to suffer a loss 

of income and other damages.  Plaintiff and the FLSA Collective are entitled to 

liquidated damages and attorney’s fees and costs incurred in connection with this 

claim.     

35. The foregoing conduct, as alleged, constitutes a willful violation of 

the FLSA within the meaning of 29 U.S.C. § 255(a).  Defendants knew, or showed 

reckless disregard for the fact that their compensation practices were in violation of 

these laws. 
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, on behalf of herself and those similarly situated, 

prays for judgment against Defendants as follows: 

A. Designation of this action as a collective action on behalf 
of Plaintiff and those similarly situated, and prompt 
issuance of notice pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b) to all 
those similarly situated apprising them of the pendency 
of this action, and permitting them to assert timely FLSA 
claims in this action by filing individual consent forms; 
 

B. Judgment that Plaintiff and those similarly situated are 
non-exempt employees entitled to protection under the 
FLSA; 

 
C. Judgment against Defendants for violation of the 

overtime provisions of the FLSA; 
 

D. Judgment that Defendants’ violations of the FLSA were 
willful; 

 
E. An award to Plaintiff and those similarly situated in the 

amount of unpaid wages owed and liquidated damages; 
 

F. An award of prejudgment interest (to the extent 
liquidated damages are not awarded); 
 

G. An award of reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs; and 
 

H. For such other and further relief, in law or equity, as this 
Court may deem appropriate and just. 
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Dated: December 17, 2018 
    
 

 By: 

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED, 
 

/s/ Roger W. Orlando 
 

  

Roger W. Orlando  
(GA Bar ID: 554295) 
THE ORLANDO FIRM, P.C. 
Suite 400 
315 West Ponce de Leon Avenue 
Decatur, GA 30030 
(404) 373-1800 (office) 
(404) 373-6999 (fax) 
roger@OrlandoFirm.com  
 
Local Counsel for Plaintiff 
 
Jason T. Brown 
Nicholas Conlon 
BROWN, LLC 
111 Town Square Place, Suite 400 
Jersey City, NJ 07310 
T: (877) 561-0000 
F: (855) 582-5297 
jtb@jtblawgroup.com 
nicholasconlon@jtblawgroup.com 
 
Lead Attorneys for Plaintiff 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF GEORGIA 

 
Catherine Esteppe, individually and on 
behalf of others similarly situated, 

 
Plaintiff, 

vs. 

 

Ideal Image Development Corp. and 
Ideal Image of Georgia, LLC, doing 
business as “Ideal Image,” 
 
  Defendants. 

  
 
Civil Case No.:  
 
 

 
CONSENT TO SUE 

 
I hereby consent to be a Plaintiff in the Fair Labor Standards Act case 

captioned above. I hereby consent to the bringing of any claims I may have under 
the Fair Labor Standards Act (for unpaid minimum wages, overtime, liquidated 
damages, attorney’s fees, costs and other relief) and applicable state wage and hour 
law against the Defendant(s). I further consent to bringing these claims on a 
collective and/or class basis with other current/former employees of Defendant(s), 
to be represented by Brown, LLC and the Orlando Firm, P.C., and to be bound by 
any settlement of this action or adjudication by the Court. 
 
 
Signed: 

  
Dated: 

 

 
 
Name: 

 

 

 

 

12/10/2018

Cathetine Esteppe

Doc ID: d17f3634309c69c26bc7ab26495eea721fbd809d
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